Trunity Holdings, Inc. Form 10-Q May 20, 2014

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarter Ended March 31, 2014

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ______ to _____

Commission File Number 000-53601

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware

87-0496850

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

230 Commerce Way, Portsmouth, New Hampshire (Address of principal executive offices)

03801 (Zip Code)

(866) 723-4114

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

15 Green Street Newburyport, Massachusetts 01950 (Former address of principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the past 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated

filer o Accelerated filer o

Smaller reporting

Non-accelerated filero (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. YES o NO x

Class Outstanding at May 16, 2014

Common Stock, \$.0001 par value per share 49,514,103

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: None

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATIO</u> N	Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results Of Operations	20
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	26
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	27
	PART II — OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	28
Item 1A	. Risk Factors	28
Item 2	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	28
Item 3.	<u>Defaults upon Senior Securities</u>	29
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	29
Item 5.	Other Information	29
<u>Item 6.</u>	Exhibits	30
	Signatures	31
	Exhibit Index	32
2		

PART I — FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

AGGETTG		March 31, 2014 (Unaudited)	D	ecember 31, 2013
ASSETS				
Current assets Cash	\$	162 100	\$	912.064
Accounts receivable	Ф	163,108 1,939	Ф	812,064 2,729
Prepaid expenses and other assets		50,043		41,636
Total current assets		215,090		856,429
Total cultent assets		213,090		650,429
Property and equipment				
Fixtures and equipment		210,172		210,172
Less accumulated depreciation		(173,132)		(164,226)
Total property and equipment, net		37,040		45,946
		,		ĺ
Capitalized software development costs				
Costs incurred		3,770,488		3,634,029
Less accumulated amortization		(3,045,476)		(2,917,866)
Total capitalized software development costs, net		725,012		716,163
Other assets				
Debt issuance costs and other assets		22,937		32,022
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	1,000,079	\$	1,650,560
LIABILITIES				
Current liabilities				
Accounts payable	\$	545,421	\$	394,325
Accrued interest and other liabilities		218,379		279,465
Notes payable - related party		_		252
Debentures Series A and B, carrying value		1,038,433		991,501
Convertible note payable		100,000		_
Deferred revenue		298,849		315,850
Total current liabilities		2,201,082		1,981,393
Long-term liabilities				
Deferred rent, long-term portion		4,401		2,515
Total long-term liabilities		4,401		2,515
Total liabilities		2,205,483		1,983,908
Commitments and Contingencies				

STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT)		
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value - 50,000,000 shares authorized;		
46,984,255 and 46,697,891 shares issued and outstanding,		
respectively	4,699	4,670
Additional paid-in capital	12,638,399	12,396,355
Other comprehensive loss	13,531	3,649
Accumulated deficit	(13,862,033)	(12,738,022)
Total stockholders' deficit	(1,205,404)	(333,348)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'DEFICIT	\$ 1,000,079	\$ 1,650,560

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31

	March 31,				
	2014		2013		
Net sales	\$60,426		\$24,870		
Cost of sales	48,669		12,367		
Gross profit	11,757		12,503		
Operating expenses:					
Research and development	365,037		329,613		
Selling, general and administrative	676,259		337,072		
Total operating expenses	1,041,296		666,685		
Loss from Operations	(1,029,539)	(654,182)	
Other expense:					
Interest expense	(94,472)	(119,264)	
Net Loss	(1,124,011)	(773,446)	
Other comprehensive gain, net of tax:					
Foreign currency translation adjustments	9,882		3,530		
Comprehensive loss	\$(1,114,129)	\$(769,916)	
Net loss per share - basic and diluted	\$(0.02)	\$(0.02)	
Weighted average number of common shares - basic and diluted	46,724,406		36,459,426		

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Deficit (Unaudited)

	Commor Shares	n Stock Amount	Additional Paid-in Capital	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Gain	Retained Earnings	Total Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity
Balance as of	46 607 001	¢4.670	-	¢ 2.640	¢ (12.729.022)	
December 31, 2013	46,697,891	\$4,670	\$12,396,355	\$ 3,649	\$(12,738,022)	\$ (333,348)
Sale of common stock, net issuance costs	286,364	29	44,971			45,000
Warrants issued for services			20,752			20,752
Employee stock-based compensation			176,321			176,321
Foreign currency translation gain				9,882		9,882
Net loss					(1,124,011)	(1,124,011)
Balance as of March 31, 2014	46,984,255	\$4,699	\$12,638,399	\$ 13,531	\$(13,862,033)	\$ (1,205,404)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,

		Marc	irch 31,			
	2014		2013			
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:						
Net Loss	\$ (1,124,011)	\$ (773,446)		
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating						
activities:						
Depreciation and amortization	136,516		120,165			
Stock compensation expense	176,321		97,004			
Accretion for debt discounts and issuance costs	65,899		86,981			
Shares issued as a conversion of payables	_		57,499			
Shares issued in exchange for services	20,752		1,144			
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:						
Accounts receivable	790		(25,117)		
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(8,407)	<u> </u>			
Accounts payable	151,099		64,234			
Accrued interest and other liabilities	(61,086)	87,146			
Deferred revenue	(17,001)	113,900			
Deferred rent	1,884		(2,536)		
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities	\$ (657,244)	\$ (173,026)		
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:						
Purchase of fixes assets	_		(4,860)		
Payment of platform development costs	(136,460)	(107,147)		
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	\$ (136,460)	\$ (112,007)		
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:						
Proceeds from notes payable related parties	_		34,020			
Repayments on notes payable related parties	(252)	(14,903)		
Proceeds from issuance of convertible note payable	100,000	ĺ	35,000			
Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs	45,000		248,751			
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities	\$ 144,748		\$ 302,868			
, c						
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(648,956)	17,835			
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	812,064	ĺ	13,724			
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 163,108		\$ 31,559			
•						
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:						
Cash paid during the period for interest	\$ 9,603		\$ —			

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for complete financial statement presentation and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related footnotes included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the "2013 Annual Report"), filed with the Commission on April 15, 2014. It is management's opinion, however, that all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) have been made which are necessary for a fair financial statements presentation.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Trunity Holdings, Inc. ("Trunity" or the "Company") and its wholly owned subsidiary Trunity, Inc. ("Trunity, Inc." or the "Company"), as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013. All intercompany accounts have been eliminated in the consolidation. Certain amounts reported in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The Company is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Portsmouth, New Hampshire. The Company was formed on July 28, 2009 through the acquisition of certain intellectual property by its three founders to develop a cloud-based knowledge-sharing platform that focuses on e-learning, virtual textbooks, customer experience and the education marketplace. It has developed a collaborative knowledge management, publishing and education delivery platform which provides an end-to-end solution for the rapidly growing e-textbook, e-learning, enterprise training, and education marketplaces. As a result of the platform's innovative multi-tenant cloud-based architecture, Trunity enables a unique integration of academic content with learning management systems. All content powered by Trunity is seamlessly integrated with learning management, social collaboration, standards and measurement tagging, real-time analytics, and royalty tracking functionality. The content is available to be purchased or shared via the Trunity Knowledge Exchange or within private communities powered by the Trunity platform.

On January 24, 2012, Trunity Holdings, Inc., Trunity, Inc. and Trunity Acquisition Corporation ("TAC"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trunity Holdings, Inc., all Delaware corporations, entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, on January 24, 2012, TAC merged with and into Trunity, Inc., with Trunity, Inc. remaining as the surviving corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Trunity (the "Merger"). In order to facilitate the reverse merger transaction, immediately prior to execution of the Merger Agreement, Trunity acquired a 90.1% interest in Brain Tree International, Inc., a Utah corporation ("BTI). As part of the transaction, on January 24, 2012, immediately prior to the Merger, BTI reincorporated in Delaware and changed its name from Brain Tree International, Inc. to Trunity Holdings, Inc.

On March 20, 2013 the Company executed a five year licensing agreement with the Ukraine Government's Open World National Project to use the Trunity eLearning Platform in exchange for a license fee of \$400,000. Upon signing, the initial payment of \$100,000 was received and the remaining payment of \$300,000 was received in April 2013. The impact of this transaction was a \$400,000 payment that was reflected in the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2013 as deferred revenue of \$315,850 for the portion representing

the remaining professional hours and license term on the agreement. As of March 31, 2014, the remaining deferred revenue for this transaction represented \$298,850.

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS - Continued

On June 5, 2013, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with its new institutional investor, Pan-African Investment Company, LLC ("PIC"), whereby PIC will assist with the introduction and marketing of the Trunity eLearning Platform in African nations seeking to improve the quality of education for their citizens. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the MOU, PIC has been granted a seven-year exclusive right to introduce Trunity's products and services to the governments of each of the countries on the African continent with a goal of improving, modernizing and providing these countries with a sustainable education platform.

On January 21, 2014, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with Houghton Mifflin Harcourt (NASDAQ:HMHC) (HMH), a global education leader to offer select HMH digital content via the Trunity Knowledge Exchange to Pre-K-12 schools, as well as to government agencies and entities responsible for the selection or purchase of educational materials.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting -The financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The preparation of these financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. The Company believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of financial statements.

Development Stage Operations - The Company had operated as a development stage enterprise since its inception by devoting substantially all of its efforts to business development. The Company emerged from development stage operations during the first quarter of 2013.

Going Concern - The financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. The Company has incurred net losses, negative working capital and had negative operating cash flow since its inception. To the extent the Company experiences negative cash flows in the future, it will continue to require additional capital to fund operations. The Company has historically obtained additional capital investments under various debt and common stock issuances. Although management continues to pursue its financing plans, there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in generating sufficient revenues to provide positive cash flow or that financing at acceptable terms, if at all, will be available to maintain its operations. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties.

Website Development –The Company has adopted the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Codification No. 350 Intangible-Goodwill and Other. Research and development costs incurred in the planning stage of a website are expensed, while development costs of the website to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are subject are capitalized and amortized over the estimated three year life of the asset. Development costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed are subject to capitalization beginning when a product's technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. In most instances, the Company's products are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. Therefore, costs incurred

subsequent to achievement of technological feasibility are usually not significant, and generally most software development costs have been expensed as incurred. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred and capitalized \$136,459 and \$107,147, respectively, in platform development costs. Amortization for these costs recorded during the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, was \$127,610 and \$110,385, respectively.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Revenue Recognition - The Company's revenue model consists of Software as a Service (SaaS) licensing and hosting revenue, as well as revenues generated from consulting, revenue sharing with our authors, publishers and advertising. All SaaS revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period.

Consulting revenues are earned for web site development services and are recognized on a time and materials basis, billed in accordance with contractual milestones negotiated with the customer. Revenues are recognized as the services are performed and amounts are earned in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 605 Revenue Recognition. We consider amounts to be earned once evidence of an arrangement has been obtained, services are delivered, fees are fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable. In certain contracts, revenue is earned upon achievement of certain milestones indicated in the client agreements. Services under these contracts are typically provided in less than a year and represent the contractual milestones or output measure, which reflect the earnings pattern.

Digital content book revenues are earned and recognized as transactions are entered on the Trunity eLearning Platform by customers purchasing digital content through the Trunity Knowledge Exchange website.

Advertising revenue is earned from search engine providers based on search activity for sites hosted by the Company.

Billings in excess of revenues recognized are recorded as Deferred Revenue (a liability) until revenue recognition criteria are met. Client prepayments are deferred and recognized over future periods as services are delivered or performed.

Derivative Financial Instruments - The Company assesses whether it has embedded derivatives in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The Company accounts for its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities and carries them at fair value.

For derivative instruments that hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or a liability and that are designated as fair value hedges, both the net gain or loss on the derivative instrument, as well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, are recognized in earnings in the current period. Derivatives that do not qualify as hedges must be adjusted to fair value through current income. The Company currently does not engage in fair value hedges.

Stock-Based Compensation - We recognize compensation costs to employees under ASC Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. Under ASC 718, companies are required to measure the compensation costs of share-based compensation arrangements based on the grant-date fair value and recognize the costs in the financial statements over the period during which employees are required to provide services. Share-based compensation cost for stock options is estimated at the grant date based on each option's fair-value as calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton ("BSM") option-pricing model. Share based compensation arrangements may include stock options, restricted share plans, performance based awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase plans. As such, compensation cost is measured on the date of grant at their fair value. Such compensation amounts, if any, are amortized over the respective vesting periods of the option grant.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Equity instruments issued to other than employees are recorded on the basis of the fair value of the instruments, as required by ASC Topic 505, Equity Based Payments to Non-Employees. In general, the measurement date is when either (a) a performance commitment, as defined, is reached or (b) the earlier of (i) the non-employee performance is complete or (ii) the instruments are vested. The measured value related to the instruments is recognized over a period based on the facts and circumstances of each particular grant as defined in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.

Common Stock Purchase Warrants - The Company accounts for common stock purchase warrants in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. As is consistent with its handling of stock compensation and embedded derivative instruments, the Company's cost for warrants is estimated at the grant date based on each option's fair-value as calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton ("BSM") option-pricing model value method for valuing the impact of the expense associated with these warrants.

Financial Instruments and Fair Values - The fair value of a financial instrument represents the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based upon relevant market information about the financial instrument. In determining fair value, we use various valuation methodologies and prioritize the use of observable inputs. We assess the inputs used to measure fair value using a three-tier hierarchy based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market:

Level 1 — inputs include exchange quoted prices for identical instruments and are the most observable

Level 2 — inputs include brokered and/or quoted prices for similar assets and observable inputs such as interest rates.

Level 3 — inputs include data not observable in the market and reflect management judgment about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The use of observable and unobservable inputs and their significance in measuring fair value are reflected in our hierarchy assessment. The carrying amount of cash, trade receivables and other assets approximates fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. Because cash and cash equivalents are readily liquidated, management classifies these values as Level 1. The fair values of all other financial instruments, including debt, approximate their book values as the instruments are short-term in nature or contain market rates of interest. Because there is no ready market or observable transactions, management classifies all other financial instruments as Level 3.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - On July 1, 2012, the Company adopted the updated guidance to Topic 220, Comprehensive Income, issued by the FASB. The update required companies to present comprehensive income in either one or two consecutive financial statements and eliminated the option that permits the presentation of other comprehensive income in the statement of shareholders' equity. The Company adopted the method of presentation using one consecutive financial statement.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

In January 2013, the FASB issued another update to the guidance in ASC Topic 220. This update does not change the requirements for reporting net income or other comprehensive income in financial statements, but rather improves the transparency of reporting reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income. The new guidance was effective for the Company beginning July 1, 2013, and the option did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

In July 2012, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other: Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment. The update simplifies the guidance for testing impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill. Examples of intangible assets subject to the guidance include indefinite-lived trademarks, licenses, and distribution rights. The amendment allows a company the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative impairment test. A company electing to perform a qualitative assessment is no longer required to calculate the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset unless the company determines, based on such qualitative assessment, that it is "more likely than not" that the asset is impaired. The changes to Codification Topic 350 were effective for the Company beginning July 1, 2013, and the guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are recorded at cost and consist of the Trunity eLearning Platform software development costs. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method over 3 years. We annually assess intangible and other long-lived assets for impairment. There was no impairment loss for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013. Intangible assets were comprised of the following at March 31, 2014:

Trunity eLearning Platform	Estimated Life	Gross Cost	Accumulated Amortization	Net Book Value
Assets acquired from Trunity, LLC	3 years	\$ 1,775,000	\$ 6 (1,775,000)	\$ —
Internal costs capitalized for period from July 28, 2009 (inception) to December 31, 2009	3 years	121,820	(121,820)	_
Internal costs capitalized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010	3 years	342,345	(342,345)	_
Internal costs capitalized for the	3 years	327,100	(299,841)	27,259

Edgar Filing: Trunity Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

twelve months ended				
December 31, 2011				
Internal costs				
capitalized for the				
twelve months ended				
December 31, 2012	3 years	548,031	(346,037)	201,994
Internal costs				
capitalized for the				
twelve months ended				
December 31, 2013	3 years	519,733	(149,062)	370,671
Internal costs				
capitalized for the				
three months ended				
March 31, 2014	3 years	136,460	(11,372) \$	125,088
Carrying value as of Mar	rch 31, 2014		\$	725,012

NOTE 3 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS - Continued

Estimated future amortization expense is as follows for the following periods:

Remainder of 2014	\$ 328,315
2015	283,717
2016	112,980
Total future amortization expense	\$ 725,012

The Trunity eLearning Platform technology was acquired from a related company, Trunity, LLC, and was valued at management's best estimate of its value at that time of the transaction. Trunity, LLC was wholly owned by the three founders of the Company. Subsequent internal costs capitalized consist of direct labor, including taxes and benefits. Amortization of three years is based on management's best estimate of useful life of current technology in this industry.

NOTE 4 - SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Credit Agreements - The Company has credit agreements with Terry Anderton and Les Anderton that allow the Company to borrow up to \$0.9 million, as needed, to fund working capital needs. These agreements carry an interest rate of 10% have no repayment term and have been amended with board consent until December 31, 2014 subsequent to the initial expiration date. As of March 31, 2014, Terry Anderton and Les Anderton have shareholder receivables/loans that are comprised of the following balances: \$0 and \$0, respectively.

Transactions with Officers—The Company's current Interim CEO and CFO, Nicole Fernandez-McGovern, is one of the managing principals of both RCM Financial and Premier Financial Filings, companies that have provided contracted financial services to Trunity. For the quarter ended March 31, 2014, RCM Financial Inc., a financial consulting firm, provided outside accounting and tax professional services that resulted in total fees of \$7,015. Premier Financial Filings, a full service financial printer, was compensated \$695.

The Company's Chief Education Officer Cutler Cleveland currently authors on the platform. In his capacity as an author he received royalty payments based on his transaction sales for the books he authors of \$8,588.

NOTE 5 - CONVERTIBLE DEBT

July 2012 Convertible Debentures - In July 2012, the Company issued convertible debentures ("July Notes") with an aggregate face value of \$215,300 Canadian Dollars (\$195,342 as of March 31, 2014). The July Notes mature in July 2014, bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, and are convertible at the option of the holders into Units, each consisting of a) one share of common stock and b) one warrant to purchase one share of common stock at 0.40 Canadian Dollars per share ("Unit"). The number of Units issuable upon conversion of the notes is determined by dividing the then outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest by a) 0.35 Canadian Dollars if a Liquidity Event, as defined in the debenture agreements, occurs within six months of the closing of the offering of the notes, or b) 0.32 Canadian Dollars if a Liquidity Event does not occur within six months of the closing of the offering of the July Notes.

NOTE 5 - CONVERTIBLE DEBT - Continued

The Company recorded a beneficial conversion feature based on the intrinsic value of the conversion feature equal to the excess of the fair value of one Unit over the conversion rate of 0.32 Canadian Dollars. The fair value of one Unit was estimated based on the most recent sale of common stock in a private placement immediately preceding the issuance of the July Notes and, for the warrant contained in one Unit, using a Black Scholes valuation model and the following assumptions: volatility – 50.50%, risk free rate - 0.22%, dividend rate – 0.00%. The Company recorded a discount against the debt for the beneficial conversion feature totaling \$84,788, which is being amortized into interest expense through the maturity dates of the July Notes. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, the Company recorded amortization of the discount of \$10,599 for both periods, respectively. As of March 31, 2014, the net carrying value of the July Notes totaled \$181,211, net of unamortized discount of \$14,131. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, interest expense on the July Notes of \$4,884 and \$5,341, respectively, was recorded.

In connection with the issuance of the July Notes, the Company paid transactions fees to brokers consisting of cash of \$85,237, and warrants to purchase 43,497 shares over a two-year period for an exercise price of 0.40 Canadian Dollars. The Company estimated the fair value of the warrants using a Black Scholes valuation model and the following assumptions: volatility -50.49%, risk free rate -0.22%, dividend rate -0.00%.

The Company allocated a portion of the fair value of the consideration totaling \$52,869, to debt issuance costs, which was capitalized and is being amortized into interest expense over the two-year terms of the July Notes. The remaining portion of the fair value of the transactions costs, totaling \$36,126 was allocated to equity, treated as equity issuance costs, and recorded against additional paid in capital. Amortization of debt issuance costs on the Notes of \$6,609 and \$6,609, respectively was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2014and 2013, respectively.

September 2012 Convertible Debentures - In September 2012, the Company issued convertible debentures ("September Notes") with an aggregate face value of \$330,900. The September Notes mature in September 2014, bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, and are convertible at the option of the holders into Units, each consisting of a) one share of common stock and b) one warrant to purchase one share of common stock at \$0.40 per share ("Unit"). The number of units issuable upon conversion of the notes is determined by dividing the then outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest by a) \$0.35 if a Liquidity Event, as defined in the debenture agreements, occurs within six months of the closing of the offering of the notes, or b) \$0.32 if a Liquidity Event does not occur within six months of the closing of the Offering of the September Notes.

The Company recorded a beneficial conversion feature based on the intrinsic value of the conversion feature equal to the excess of the fair value of one Unit over the conversion rate of \$0.32. The fair value of one Unit was estimated based on the most recent sale of common stock in a private placement immediately preceding the issuance of the Notes and, for the warrant contained in one Unit, using a Black Scholes valuation model and the following assumptions: volatility – 50.50%, risk free rate – 0.22%, dividend rate – 0.00%. The Company recorded a discount against the debt for the beneficial conversion feature totaling \$115,712, which is being amortized into interest expense through the maturity dates of the September Notes. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, the Company recorded amortization of the discount for both periods of \$31,750, respectively. As of March 31, 2014, the net carrying value of the September Notes totaled \$239,295, net of unamortized discount of

\$24,107. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 interest expense on the September Notes was recorded of \$8,273 for both periods, respectively.

NOTE 5 - CONVERTIBLE DEBT - Continued

In connection with the issuance of the September Notes, the Company paid cash transactions fees to brokers totaling \$30,456. The Company allocated a portion of the transaction fees totaling \$19,806, to debt issuance costs, which was capitalized and is being amortized into interest expense over the two-year terms of the September Notes. The remaining portion of the fair value of the transactions costs, totaling \$10,650 was allocated to equity, treated as equity issuance costs, and recorded against additional paid in capital. Amortization of debt issuance costs on the September Notes of \$2,476 was recorded for both periods for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

October and November 2012 Convertible Debentures - In October and November 2012, the Company issued convertible debentures ("October and November Notes") with an aggregate face value of \$624,372 of which \$313,440 represented a conversion of notes payable- related parties to the Founders. The October and November Notes mature in October and November 2014, bear interest at an annual rate of 10%, and are convertible at the option of the holders into Units, each consisting of a) one share of common stock and b) one warrant to purchase one share of common stock at \$0.40 per share ("Unit"). The number of units issuable upon conversion of the October and November Notes is determined by dividing the then outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest by a) \$0.35 if a Liquidity Event, as defined in the debenture agreements, occurs within six months of the closing of the October and November Notes, or b) \$0.32 if a Liquidity Event does not occur within six months of the closing of the offering of the October and November Notes.

The Company recorded a beneficial conversion feature based on the intrinsic value of the conversion feature equal to the excess of the fair value of one Unit over the conversion rate of \$0.32. The fair value of one Unit was estimated based on the most recent sale of common stock in a private placement immediately preceding the issuance of the Notes and, for the warrant contained in one Unit, using a Black Scholes valuation model and the following assumptions: volatility – 50.50%, risk free rate –0.22%, dividend rate – 0.00%. The Company recorded a discount against the debt for the beneficial conversion feature totaling \$254,004, which is being amortized into interest expense through the maturity dates of the October and November Notes. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded amortization of the discount of \$31,750 for both periods, respectively. As of March 31, 2014 the net carrying value of the October and November Notes totaled \$552,955, net of unamortized discount of \$182,587. For the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 interest expense on the October and November Notes of \$15,609 was recorded for both periods, respectively.

In connection with the issuance of the October and November Notes, the Company paid no cash transactions fees to brokers.

The following is a summary of convertible debentures outstanding as of March 31, 2014:

	Face Value		Initial Discount		Accumulated Amortization		Carryi Value	ng
July Notes	\$	195,342	\$	(84,788)	\$	70,657	\$	181,210
September Notes		330,900		(115,712)		89,080		304,268
October and November								
Notes		159,000		(55,889)		20,524		123,635

November - Related Party

	•				
Notes		465,372	(198,115)	162,063	429,320
Total	\$	1,150,614	\$ (454,504) \$	342,317	\$ 1,038,433

Convertible Promissory Note - In March 2014, the Company borrowed \$100,000 from an accredited investor pursuant to a six month convertible promissory note bearing interest at 10% per year. The note is convertible at \$.165 per share with the same warrant coverage as for the shares privately sold as set forth above. The Company incurred \$5,000 of debt issuance costs representing commission paid to broker-dealers who assisted this transaction. The entire principal balance of this Note, together with all unpaid interest accrued thereon, shall be due and payable on September 24, 2014 (the "Maturity Date"). Upon payment in full of all principal and interest payable hereunder, this Note shall be surrendered to the Company for cancellation. The principal amount of this Note may be converted in increments of \$10,000 into common stock of the Company at a price of \$.165 per share (the "Conversion Shares"). Upon conversion, the Holder shall receive, in addition to certificates for the Conversion Shares, a five-year warrant to purchase at \$.50 per share an amount of shares of common stock equal to 25% of the number of Conversion Shares.

NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVES

The Company's convertible debt issued in November 2012 with a face value of \$42,500 provides for conversion of the note into the Company's common stock at a conversion rate equal to the average of the lowest three trading prices during the ten trading days immediately preceding the conversion date. Because of the uncertainty regarding the number of common shares that may be issuable upon the conversion of the convertible debt, the embedded conversion option is required to be accounted for separately and presented as a derivative liability on the Company's balance sheet, with subsequent changes in fair value reported in the Company's statement of operations. The Company determined the fair value of derivative liabilities using Monte Carlo simulations. The Company used the following assumptions in estimating the fair value of the derivative liabilities on the issuance date through the conversion dates of the debt.

	Issuance		December 31,		March 30,		May 22,		June 19,	
	Date		2012		2013		2013		2013	
Expected Volatility	51	%	52.67	%	40.55	%	38.46	%	25.09	%
Expected Term	0.75 Year	S	0.6 Years		0.3 Years		0.16 Years	S	0.1 Years	
Risk Free Interest Rate	0.20	%	0.16	%	0.07	%	0.04	%	0.05	%
Dividend Rate	0	%	0	%	0	%	0	%	0	%

The Company recorded an initial derivative liability of \$32,622 with an offsetting discount against the convertible debt to be amortized into interest expense through the maturity of the convertible debt. From the date of issuance to the date of conversion into 166,744 shares of common stock, the fair value of the derivative liability changed to \$32,007 resulting in expense of \$616 and a reclass to additional paid-in capital of \$31,990 during the three months ended June 30, 2013, the period the transaction settled.

The Company's convertible debt issued in January 2013 with a face value of \$37,500 provides for conversion of the note into the Company's common stock at a conversion rate equal to the average of the lowest three trading prices during the ten trading days immediately preceding the conversion date. Because of the uncertainty regarding the number of common shares that may be issuable upon the conversion of the convertible debt, the embedded conversion option is required to be accounted for separately and presented as a derivative liability on the Company's balance sheet, with subsequent changes in fair value reported in the Company's statement of operations. The Company determined the assumptions in estimating the fair value of the derivative liabilities on the issuance date and as of June

24, 2013.

	Issuance		March 31,		June 24,	
	Date		2013		2013	
Expected Volatility	51	%	49.82	%	29.43	%
Expected Term	0.75 Years		0.45 Years		0.16 Years	
Risk Free Interest Rate	0.11	%	0.11	%	0.06	%
Dividend Rate	0	%	0	%	0	%

NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVES - Continued

The Company recorded an initial derivative liability of \$28,603 with an offsetting discount against the convertible debt to be amortized into interest expense through the maturity of the convertible debt. From the date of issuance until the full payment of \$57,606 was made, the fair value of the derivative liability changed to \$18,733 resulting in derivative income of \$9,870 that was recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2013, the period the transaction settled.

NOTE 7 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In 2009, the Company approved the 2009 Employee, Director and Consultant Stock Option Plan (the "2009 Plan") and authorized an option pool of 5,500,000 shares that was subject to a 3 for 1 reverse stock split resulting in an authorized option pool of 1,833,333. Stock options typically vest over a three year period and have a life of ten years from the date granted. In 2009, the Company accelerated the option vesting of certain employees who terminated their employment, but agreed to work in a consulting capacity. In exchange for the accelerated vesting, the employees agreed to shorter expiration periods for their options. As of March 31, 2014 there were 80,047 shares available for awards under this plan.

In 2012, the Company approved the 2012 Employee, Director and Consultant Stock Option Plan (the "2012 Plan") and authorized an option pool of 7,500,000 shares. Stock options typically vest over a three year period and have a life of ten years from the date granted. As of March 31, 2014, there were 2,308,226 shares available for awards under this plan.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company issued to employees, directors or consultants 1,134,000 and 0 options, respectively, to acquire shares of common stock..

On February 12, 2014, Arol Buntzman resigned from his positions as Chairman, Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Company. The Company's Board of Directors has commenced a search for a permanent CEO and has appointed Nicole Fernandez-McGovern, the Company's Chief Financial Officer, as interim CEO to serve until a permanent CEO is hired.

As a result of Mr. Buntzman's resignation pursuant to the December 2013 non-qualified stock option agreement between him and the Company which granted to him options to purchase up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock outside of the Company's 2009 and 2012 stock option plans (the "Option Agreement") options to purchase 1,500,000 shares of stock were automatically cancelled. These options covered the tranches of 500,000 shares each at an exercise price of \$.40, \$.60 and \$.70, respectively. The Company believes that some or all of the remaining options under the Option Agreement, representing 1,500,000 shares in three tranches of 500,000 shares each at exercise prices of \$.40, \$.60 and \$.70, respectively, should be cancelled based on the circumstances of Mr. Buntzman's resignation. Mr. Buntzman disputes the Company's position. If the dispute is not settled, the matter is subject to binding arbitration. No demand for arbitration has been filed by either party.

The grant-date fair value of options is estimated using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The per share weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the period ended March 31, 2014 was \$0.26 and was determined using the following assumptions: expected price volatility ranging between 48% to 50%, risk-free interest rate ranging from 1.50% to 1.75%, zero expected dividend yield, and six years expected life of options. The expected term of options granted is based on the simplified method in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin 107, and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The Company makes assumptions with respect to expected stock price volatility based on the average historical volatility of peers with similar attributes. In addition, the Company determines the risk free rate by selecting the U.S. Treasury with maturities similar to the expected terms of grants, quoted on an investment basis in effect at the time of grant for that business day.

As of March 31, 2014, there was approximately \$390,113 of total unrecognized stock compensation expense, related to unvested stock options under the both Plans. This expense is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average vesting periods of the outstanding options of 1.28 years.

NOTE 7 - STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION - Continued

A summary of options issued, exercised and cancelled for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 are as follows:

		Weighted-Average			
		Weighted-Average	Remaining	Aggregate	
		Exercise Price	Contractual	Intrinsic	
	Shares	(\$)	Term	Value (\$)	
Outstanding at December					
31, 2013	8,315,958	0.42	9.09	—	
Granted	1,134,000	0.26	9.82	_	
Exercised	_	_	_	_	
Cancelled	(1,758,185)	0.55		_	
Outstanding at March 31,					
2014	7,691,773	0.37	8.82	_	
Exercisable at March 31,					
2014	5,470,227	\$ 0.40	8.97	_	

NOTE 8 - WARRANTS TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

During the quarter ended March 31, 2014 the Company issued, in connection with private placement offerings for the sale of common stock, warrants to purchase 9,898,836 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of \$1.00. All warrants are still outstanding as of March 31, 2014 and expire at various dates through 2016. A summary of warrants issued, exercised and expired for the three months ended March 31, 2014 follows:

		V	Veighted-Average
		Weighted-Average	Remaining
		Exercise Price	Contractual
	Shares	(\$)	Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2013	10,486,066	1.25	2.15
Granted	502,900	0.80	4.07
Exercised	_	_	_
Expired	(17,900	3.00	_
Outstanding at March 31, 2014	10,971,066	0.98	1.25
Exercisable at March 31, 2014	10,971,066	0.98	1.25

NOTE 9 - STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY

During the quarter ended March 31, 2014, the Company raised gross proceeds of \$45,000 through the sale of 286,364 shares of its Common Stock to accredited investors in private placement transactions at a price of \$0.165 per share. Each investor also received a five-year warrant to purchase one share of common stock for every four shares purchased at an exercise price of \$0.50 per share. In addition, in March 2014 we borrowed \$100,000 from an accredited investor pursuant to a six month convertible promissory note bearing interest at 10% per year. The note is convertible at \$.165 per share with the same warrant coverage as for the shares privately sold as set forth above. The Company incurred \$5,000 of debt and securities issuance costs representing commissions paid to broker-dealers who assisted these transactions.

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

From April 1, 2014 to May 16, 2014, the Company raised gross proceeds of \$417,025 through the sale of 2,529,848 shares of its Common Stock to accredited investors in private placement transactions at a price of \$0.165 per share. Each investor also received a five-year warrant to purchase one share of common stock for every four shares purchased at an exercise price of \$0.50 per share. In addition, in March 2014 we borrowed \$100,000 from an accredited investor pursuant to a six month convertible promissory note bearing interest at 10% per year. The note is convertible at \$.165 per share with the same warrant coverage as for the shares privately sold as set forth above. The Company incurred \$10,000 of securities and debt issuance costs representing commissions paid to broker-dealers who assisted these transactions along with 50,000 warrants.

In February 2012, Trunity and our former CEO Terry Anderton were served with a complaint filed by an ex-Trunity, employee, William Horn, in the Nashua, New Hampshire, Superior Court. The plaintiff served as Executive Vice President of Marketing & Business Development from March until August 2011 at an annual salary of \$100,000. He asserted whistleblower status and alleged that he was wrongfully terminated because of his allegations that the Company had violated securities, tax and employment laws. The complaint sought unspecified damages under the New Hampshire Whistleblower Act and common law, including reinstatement, back pay and attorney's fees and costs. In May 2012, we responded to the complaint by denying all material allegations and filing a counterclaim against the plaintiff for breach of contract, tortious interference with contractual and business relations, breach of fiduciary duty and violation of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. Substantial discovery was taken, including a deposition of Mr. Horn on March 25, 2013.

On June 13, 2013, the Court granted our Motion to Dismiss Terry Anderton, in his individual capacity, from the case. Therefore, Trunity remained the sole defendant in this matter.

Trial of the case was scheduled for the weeks of June 16 and June 23, 2014.

In May 2014, following successful mediation in April, the case was settled based on our agreement to pay \$60,000 to Mr. Horn, with the parties exchanging mutual releases. The settlement payment was made by our insurance company, which has paid all costs of the litigation above our \$50,000 deductible.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes contained in this quarterly report and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. The results of operations for an interim period may not give a true indication of results for future interim periods or the year. In the following discussion, all comparisons are with the corresponding items in the prior or year period.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes to those statements that are included elsewhere in this report. Our discussion includes forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties, such as our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. Actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including those set forth under the Item 1.01. "Risk Factors," "Forward-Looking Statements" and "Business" in our Current Report on Form 10-K dated December 31, 2013. We use words such as "anticipate," "estimate," "plan," "project," "continuing," "ongoing," "expect," "believe," "intend," "may," "will," "should," "could," and similar express forward-looking statements.

Overview

Trunity Holdings, Inc. ("Trunity," "Company," "we," "us", or "our") is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Portsmouth New Hampshire. The Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Trunity, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Trunity, Inc."), also based in Portsmouth, New Hampshire, has pioneered a collaborative knowledge management, publishing and education delivery platform – the Trunity eLearning Platform – which provides an end-to-end solution for the rapidly growing eTextbook, eLearning and enterprise training market places.

As a result of the Platform's innovative multi-tenant cloud-based architecture, Trunity has enabled transformational classroom learning, allowing content from multiple sources to be assembled by instructors into customized living digital textbooks and courseware and delivered with real-time updates directly to the student on any Internet-enabled computer or mobile device.

The Trunity eLearning Platform has four unique features:

- 1) Modular Digital Content: It converts text and rich media content into discrete, coherent packages of information. This "modularization" enables every piece of content to be utilized in a customized fashion by an unlimited number of instructors and course developers.
- 2) Real-Time Content Creation: Content on the Platform can be updated in real-time; a change made to a base version of a chapter, lesson, or assignment is instantly "pushed" to all users. In addition to these attributes, the Platform is a cloud-based technology that is agnostic in regards to device and operating system.
- 3)Customizable Content: Modular LiveCrossTM published content creates an unprecedented ability for instructors and course developers to customize both the nature of the content they choose, and the sequence in which that content is presented to students.

4)Collaborative Learning Environments: Trunity's LiveCross™ publishing feature enables instructors and course developers to easily share and discover content on the Web or in the Trunity Knowledge Exchange, and to pull that content into their courses with a few simple clicks.

The Trunity Knowledge Exchange can deliver quality content from various sources, including traditional publishers, collaborative crowd-sourced communities, individual authors and teachers, as well as institutional repositories and content partners. The Trunity eLearning Platform currently hosts a growing community of textbook authors and instructors in higher education and K-12, who use the Platform to deliver their classes.

Trunity has recently entered an agreement with the National Council of Science and the Environment (NCSE), a not-for-profit organization that engages scientists, educators, policy-makers, environmental managers, government agencies, conservationists and business leaders in programs that foster collaboration between diverse institutions and individuals creating and using environmental knowledge to make science useful to policies and decisions on critical environmental issues. Both Trunity and NCSE will be co-marketing the Trunity eLearning Platform to the over 2,500 authors currently accessing the Encyclopedia of the Earth. The Encyclopedia of Earth is an award-winning, open source collection of peer-reviewed content contributed by several thousand content experts made up of many of the world's top scientists and educators.

We have customers both domestically and internationally, as we have won a significant national project in Ukraine. In addition, we host the collection on Climate Adaptation and Mitigation E-Learning (CAMEL), an open source educational project funded by the National Science Foundation, which also serves as core content contributors to the Trunity Knowledge Exchange. We believe that our cloud-based platform, which tightly integrates expert validated learning content with learning management, has the capability to disrupt the traditional education market place.

Content modularization capabilities allow our products to be mixed and matched and purchased in whole or in part. Our core products are in production and operational, and are currently in use by a growing number of paying customers; however, our revenues are well below the level needed for profitability. We believe that our focused marketing efforts as well as the impact of positive "word of mouth" from satisfied users will enable us to substantially increase revenues; however, there can be no assurance that we will achieve profitability at any time in the foreseeable future.

We encounter a variety of challenges that may affect our business and should be considered as described in Item 1A "Risk Factors" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 and in the section of this quarterly report captioned "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results."

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses reported in those financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and other factors that we believe are most likely to occur. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in revised estimates, which are recorded in the period in which they become known.

Our most critical accounting policies relate to revenue recognition, web development assets, derivative instruments, and share-based compensation. Since December 31, 2013, there have been no significant changes to the assumptions and estimates related to those critical accounting policies.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The recent accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies that do not require adoption until a future date are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

Results of Operations

Years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Net sales for the three months ended March 31, 2014 increased 143% to \$60,426 compared to \$24,870 for the three months ended 2014. Revenues in 2014 stemmed largely from increase in our vbook sales and continued recognition of revenue from the Ukraine Government's Open World National Project Agreement. We believe that our revenue will increase during 2014 based upon revenue recognition from licensing revenue and increased revenue from our recently launched authoring program, from new and existing relationships, specific marketing initiatives and "word of mouth" from satisfied users of our platform; however, there can be no assurance that this expected revenue increase will occur.

Our total operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2014 were \$1,041,296, a 56.2% increase from total operating expenses of \$666,685 reported for the prior year quarter. The increase was mainly attributed to selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, which increased 100.6% to \$676,259 from \$337,072 on a comparable year-over-year basis. SG&A expenses included non-cash stock compensation expense of \$176,321 as of March 31, 2014 which in the prior year period was \$97,004 representing an 82% increase. This increase was due primarily to options issued to our former CEO, our consulting engagement with Wavesense and a newly appointed board member. We also had non-cash expense for warrants issued for services which totaled \$20,752 versus shares issued for services in the prior year period of \$57,499. In addition, as result of expanding our executive and sales, marketing and development teams with paid consultants in 2014 offset by the termination of several employees within the Company and investing in several marketing initiatives, including participation in industry conferences, travel to international market places to pursue business development opportunities, and the development of a new web site and marketing collateral materials SGA costs increased in these areas in comparison to the prior year period. Lastly, due to increased audit fees and additional legal expenses due primarily to work relations to the expansion of our business professional fees substantially increased for this quarter versus the prior year quarter.

For the quarter ended March 31, 2014, we continued to invest heavily in the ongoing development and enhancements to the Trunity eLearning Platform. Consequently, research and development costs remained relatively flat on a year-over-year basis, increasing a modest 10.7% to \$365,037 from \$329,613 for the quarter ended March 31, 2013.

As a result of increased SG&A and R&D expenses, the loss from operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 increased 57% to \$1,029,539 compared to a loss from operations of \$654,182 reported for the three months ended March 31, 2013.

After including interest expense of \$94,472 for the three months ended March 31, 2014, our net loss increased to \$1,124,011 compared to a net loss of \$773,446 for the three months ended March 31, 2013, which included interest expense of \$119,264. The decrease in interest expense on a comparable year-over-year basis was attributable to certain of our convertible notes being settled in the first and second quarter of 2013 resulting in less subject to accrued

interest for the current period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is the ability of a company to generate sufficient cash to satisfy its needs for operations. At March 31, 2014, we had negative working capital of \$1,124,964 as compared to negative working capital of \$1,168,531 at March 31, 2013. This negative working capital is due to the our operating losses and inability to raise sufficient capital of equity to cover accrued expenses and accounts payable in 2014.

Our current assets at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 included cash and accounts receivable, net. Our current liabilities at March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 included accounts payables, notes payable – related parties, accrued interest, professional fees and vacation expense and amounts owed to shareholders for working capital loans, convertible note payables and deferred revenue.

Net cash used in operating activities was \$657,244 for the three months ended March 31, 2014, as compared to \$173,026 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. Working capital changes provided cash of \$167,279 in the current period as compared to \$237,627 for the three months ended March 31, 2013 due to the receipt of cash from the Ukraine licensing contract in 2013 that was not received in the current period and equity private placement proceeds for both periods. In addition, net income was impacted by non-cash items increasing expenses of \$399,489 in the current year as compared to \$362,793 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. This increase was primarily due to additional stock compensation expense as a result of more issuances of options to employees and consultants offset by a decrease in accretion expense for debt discount and issuance costs due to certain convertible notes being settled in the first and second quarter of 2013.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$136,459 for the three months ended March 31, 2014, as compared to net cash used of \$112,007 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. This increase was a result of the investment being made for the new version of the platform set to be deployed for the fall of 2014.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was approximately \$144,748 as compared to \$302,867 for the three months ended March 31, 2013. This decrease is due mainly to less proceeds being raised from the private sale of our securities and proceeds from notes payable due to related parties.

We do not have any commitments for capital expenditures during the next 12 months nor do we have any committed external sources of capital. We believe our working capital plus existing equity commitments are sufficient to fund our operations and permit us to satisfy our obligations as they become due for at least the next six months. We have continued to expand our business and our expenses are increasing despite our focused cost-control efforts. Even if we are successful in substantially increasing our revenues from expected sales, we will still need to raise substantial additional working capital. We do not have any firm commitments to provide the additional capital which is needed after the next six months and there are no assurances that we will be able to secure such capital on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Our ability to significantly increase our revenues and successfully raise additional working capital is key to our ability to continue as a going concern. If we are not successful in both of these efforts, we may be forced to significantly curtail or cease our operations.

Plan of Operation

We have developed a collaborative knowledge management, publishing and education delivery platform which provides an end-to-end solution for the rapidly growing digital content books, e-learning, enterprise training and education marketplaces. As a result of the platform's innovative multi-tenant cloud-based architecture, this enables a unique integration of academic content with learning management systems. It allows content from multiple sources to be assembled into customized living textbooks and courseware and delivered with real-time updates directly to the student on any Internet-enabled computer or smart mobile device. All content powered by us is seamlessly integrated

with learning management, social collaboration, standards and measurement tagging, real-time analytics and royalty tracking functionality. The content is available to be purchased or shared via the Trunity Knowledge Exchange or within private communities powered by the platform. Content modularization capabilities allow products to be mixed and matched and purchased in whole or in part.

The Trunity Knowledge Exchange delivers quality content from various sources, such as traditional publishers, collaborative crowd-sourced communities, individual authors and teachers, as well as institutional repositories and content partners. Our platform currently hosts a growing community of over 4,300 expert contributors made up of many of the world's top scientists and educators, who create peer-reviewed educational content. We have customers both domestically and internationally, as we have won a significant national project in Ukraine. In addition, we host many National Science Foundation (NSF) and NASA—-funded projects, including The National Council for Science and the Environment (NCSE), Encyclopedia of Earth (EoE) and Climate Adaptation and Mitigation E-Learning (CAMEL), all of which also serve as core content contributors to the Trunity Knowledge Exchange.

On March 20, 2013, we entered into a transaction pursuant to which the Trunity eLearning Platform was selected by the Ukraine Government's Open World National Project to serve as the foundation for the country's national educational network for public school students in grades five through nine, representing approximately 1,500,000 students. It is important to note that the political upheaval that has taken place in Ukraine since February 2014 resulting in the Ukrainian parliament voting to dismiss the country's president, Victor Yanukovych, and the Russian annexation of Crimea, has created uncertainty as to the viability of the Ukraine government's Open World National Project; which, in turn, may impact Trunity's ability to complete the project implementation. Given the recent political climate in Ukraine, the launch of the Open World Project is currently on hold; however, Trunity is poised and ready to proceed with the initiative as soon as we are given approval to do so. To date, we have onboarded content to the newly developed Ukrainian Knowledge Exchange, which is expected to be initially rolled out to seventh graders, followed by a phased two-year deployment to ultimately reach all 1.5 million students in grades five through nine.

On June 5, 2013, we completed a \$3.575M strategic funding led by Pan-African Investment Company (PIC), which was founded by Dick Parsons and Ronald Lauder. Parsons and Lauder formed PIC to identify, invest in and provide solutions that effect growth and development in Africa. In addition to the investment, we entered into an agreement appointing PIC as our exclusive sales agent in Africa. We anticipate a presence in Africa as part of our strategy to bring our platform to the African continent.

Our Virtual Textbook solution has seen strong adoption since its initial launch in the Fall of 2012. The first Virtual Textbook authored on the Trunity eLearning Platform was deployed in the first semester at Boston University and sold to 150+ students in a single class at \$50 each, expanding to four universities and seven courses by the second semester. Recently the first textbook sold over 700 copies for the winter semester and has now been adopted at 15 universities, three high schools and 20 courses, with approximately 50+ U.S. higher education institutions considering it for adoption for the Fall 2014/2015 school year. Following in these footsteps, several new textbooks are being authored entirely on our platform and as a result are nearing completion. In addition our first authored textbook geared specifically towards professional trade certifications is completed and is expected to be deployed for the fall of 2014.

In addition to the continued organic author sign-ups, we have launched a large scale author-teacher recruitment campaign which is specifically geared toward gathering premium content (full textbooks, chapters, courses, modules, videos, PowerPoint and other learning resources) to be sold on the Trunity Knowledge Exchange. The campaign is anchored by Trunity's participation in a number of well attended industry conferences and trade shows, at which our Chief Education Officer, Dr. Cutler Cleveland, has and will continue to lead Trunity-sponsored seminars relating to "how-to-author" and the related benefits of authoring on the Trunity eLearning Platform.

In the beginning of 2014 we announced that we signed a Memorandum of Understanding with global education leader Houghton Mifflin Harcourt ("HMH") to offer select HMH digital content via the Trunity Knowledge Exchange to Pre-K-12 schools, as well as to government agencies and entities responsible for the selection or purchase of educational materials. Among the world's largest providers of pre-K-12 education solutions and longest-established publishing houses, HMH combines cutting-edge research, editorial excellence and technological innovation to improve teaching and learning environments and solve complex literacy and education challenges. HMH's interactive, results-driven education solutions are utilized by more than 50 million students in over 150 countries, and its renowned and awarded novels, non-fiction, children's books and reference works are enjoyed by readers throughout the world.

As one of the world's leading providers of research-based, technology-enabled education content and solutions, HMH will seek to leverage the robust scalability, rich multi-media, mobile capabilities, and intuitive cloud-based functionality of the Trunity eLearning Platform to provide increased access to its educational content in high growth international markets. Both companies hope to leverage our combined strengths to provide an enriching educational experience for both students and teachers anywhere, anytime and on any connected device. It is anticipated that the Trunity eLearning Platform will integrate HMH's quality content to provide a vibrant, interactive learning vehicle capable of delivering modular, customizable, real-time learning solutions through the cloud.

Both companies teamed up to showcase HMH's premium learning content through the Trunity eLearning Platform, co-exhibiting at the recent BETT 2014 conference held in London in January 2014 and are planning on continuing to showcase at more events throughout 2014.

Under development for over a year, we have released version 2.0 of the Trunity eLearning Platform. This release constitutes the largest single release to date and provides us with a next-generation technology foundation with powerful new programming and scalability features we believe that will serve us well for years to come. Key components include a next-generation content engine based on highly flexible and scalable NoSQL database technology, as well as a robust new Java-based Application Programming Interface (API). New functionality included in this release includes an easily customizable publishing workflow, extensible standards tagging framework (includes Common Core alignment), automatic reading level tagging, and self-assessment, among other new features.

The latest release has allowed us to augment our platform with meta-tagging capabilities that allows content to be categorized and aligned to various educational standards such as Common Core. This allows authors, curriculum developers and teachers to find and pull together (via Trunity's LiveCrossTM Publishing technology) different content modules to create textbooks and courses customized for specific curriculum standards and differentiated student learning needs. In particular, the Common Core framework built around the concept of modularized content – adopted by 46 out of 50 states for their K-12 curriculum – has presented unique challenges that traditional textbook publishers have been ill-equipped to address with their monolithic textbook publishing model. As federal funding is often tied to the adoption of these standards and corresponding learning outcomes, we believe that we are well positioned with both the school districts and traditional publishers that have adopted the Common Core standards.

We are currently engaged in advanced discussions with a number of publishers currently underway in an effort to bring a large numbers of textbooks and other educational content to the platform and make this content available through Trunity's domestic and international distribution channels. Trunity's API architecture enables us to import textbooks and other digital content from traditional publishers to our platform. We have engaged and outsourced an engineering team in the Ukraine, which is currently in the process of creating content import scripts with the first batch of imported textbooks underway. As we continue to build the amount of content available on the platform along with the number of teachers and students requiring content to learn, we believe this growth will continue to drive increased revenues in the future.

With the advent of tablet computing, the entire industry is undergoing a massive market swing to electronic publishing. Even so, many of the dominant publishers still follow a traditional approach to authoring, editorial reviewing, production and distribution of content, delivering e-textbooks that are essentially only flat, electronic versions of the physical textbook. This conservative "status quo" approach does little to reduce costs and time-to-market, and doesn't take advantage of powerful capabilities that the new technology medium is able to offer, presenting a major market opportunity for our faster, less expensive, better integrated and much more powerful and dynamic solution.

Our entire model with its modular, customizable content that is easily created and updated. In addition to disrupting the traditional publishing and distribution model (e.g. by crowdsourcing and peer-reviewing educational content from subject matter experts and allowing educators to create from this content custom virtual textbooks complete with learning management and collaboration functionality), our "publishing market place" approach also provides traditional publishers a neutral "publisher agnostic" channel to sell content into schools, whereby they can take advantage of the powerful functionality provided by the our Platform. Based on increasing demand by customers for functionality (e.g. mixing and matching content from different publishers into customized curriculum, etc.) that most current publishers are unable to meet, we believe this will be an increasingly attractive option for publishers as well as a significant added market opportunity for us.

Inflation

In the opinion of management, inflation has not had and will not have a material effect on our operations in the immediate future. Management will continue to monitor inflation and evaluate the possible future effects of inflation on our business and operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of the date of this report, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors. The term "off-balance sheet arrangement" generally means any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement to which an entity unconsolidated with us is a party, under which we have any obligation arising under a guarantee contract, derivative instrument or variable interest or a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to such entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support for such assets.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

This item is not required for a smaller reporting company.

Item 4(T). Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures" as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this by this quarterly report, our interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that the information relating to our company, required to be disclosed in our Securities and Exchange Commission reports (i) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2014. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Management's assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting. Based on this assessment, our management has concluded that as of March 31, 2014, our internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management has evaluated whether any change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the first, -quarter of fiscal 2014. Based on its evaluation, management, including the chief executive officer and principal accounting officer, has concluded that there has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the first quarter of fiscal 2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

In February 2012, Trunity and our former CEO Terry Anderton were served with a complaint filed by an ex-Trunity, employee, William Horn, in the Nashua, New Hampshire, Superior Court. The plaintiff served as Executive Vice President of Marketing & Business Development from March until August 2011 at an annual salary of \$100,000. He asserted whistleblower status and alleged that he was wrongfully terminated because of his allegations that the Company had violated securities, tax and employment laws. The complaint sought unspecified damages under the New Hampshire Whistleblower Act and common law, including reinstatement, back pay and attorney's fees and costs. In May 2012, we responded to the complaint by denying all material allegations and filing a counterclaim against the plaintiff for breach of contract, tortious interference with contractual and business relations, breach of fiduciary duty and violation of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act. Substantial discovery was taken, including a deposition of Mr. Horn on March 25, 2013.

On June 13, 2013, the Court granted our Motion to Dismiss Terry Anderton, in his individual capacity, from the case. Therefore, Trunity remained the sole defendant in this matter.

Trial of the case was scheduled for the weeks of June 16 and June 23, 2014.

In May 2014, following successful mediation in April, the case was settled based on our agreement to pay \$60,000 to Mr. Horn, with the parties exchanging mutual releases. The settlement payment was made by our insurance company, which has paid all costs of the litigation above our \$50,000 deductible.

There are no other material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject and, to the best of our knowledge, no such actions against us are contemplated or threatened.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We believe there are no changes that constitute material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the SEC on April 16, 2013.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the quarter ended March 31, 2014, the Company raised gross proceeds of \$45,000 through the sale of 286,364 shares of its Common Stock to accredited investors in private placement transactions at a price of \$0.165 per share. Each investor also received a five-year warrant to purchase one share of common stock for every four shares purchased at an exercise price of \$0.50 per share. In addition, in March 2014 we borrowed \$100,000 from an accredited investor pursuant to a six month convertible promissory note bearing interest at 10% per year. The note is convertible at \$.165 per share with the same warrant coverage as for the shares privately sold as set forth above. The Company incurred \$5,000 of debt and securities issuance costs representing commissions paid to broker-dealers who assisted these transactions. The net proceeds of this offering were used for working capital.

From April 1, 2014 to May 16, 2014, the Company raised gross proceeds of \$417,025 through the sale of 2,529,848 shares of its Common Stock to accredited investors in private placement transactions at a price of \$0.165 per share. Each investor also received a five-year warrant to purchase one share of common stock for every four shares purchased at an exercise price of \$0.50 per share. The Company incurred \$10,000 of securities and debt issuance costs representing commissions paid to broker-dealers who assisted these transactions along with 50,000 warrants. The net proceeds are being used for working capital purposes.

These issuances were made pursuant to an exemption from registration requirements under Regulation D and/or Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

This Item is not applicable to our company's operations.

Item 5. Other Information

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit 31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 32.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
101.INS	XBRL INSTANCE DOCUMENT **
101.SCH	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA **
101.CAL	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION CALCULATION LINKBASE **
101.DEF	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION DEFINITION LINKBASE **
101.LAB	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABEL LINKBASE **
101.PRE	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION PRESENTATION LINKBASE **

^{**} Filed herewith.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRUNITY HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: May 20, 2014 By: /s/ Nicole M. Fernandez-McGovern

Nicole M. Fernandez-McGovern,

Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description
Exhibit 31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
Exhibit 32.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. **
101.INS	XBRL INSTANCE DOCUMENT **
101.SCH	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION SCHEMA **
101.CAL	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION CALCULATION LINKBASE **
101.DEF	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION DEFINITION LINKBASE **
101.LAB	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION LABEL LINKBASE **
101.PRE	XBRL TAXONOMY EXTENSION PRESENTATION LINKBASE **
32	